RECEIVED

Dec 15 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Lexington County
J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 2020-UP-269 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Sept. 23, 2020)

BOYD RASHAEEN EVANS,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-000786

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Did the Court of Appeals violate the standard of review by failing to defer to the PCR court's findings of fact and substituting its own view of the facts in denying Petitioner relief from his convictions and sentences?

II. Did trial counsel's deficient performance in derogation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution prejudice Petitioner where trial counsel failed to ask the alibi witness the critical question to establish an alibi – the time with which the alibi witness was with Petitioner on the date in question?

STATEMENT

On November 26, 2007, a Lexington County grand jury returned indictments against Petitioner for armed robbery, possession of a firearm during a crime of violence, and two counts of kidnapping. App. 729-736. On January 11-14, 2010, Petitioner and his co-defendant, Lywone Capers, appeared jointly for trial before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon and a jury. App. 1. David Miller represented Petitioner, and the state was represented by assistant attorney generals Robert Maldonado and Joshua Underwood. App. 1; App. 15. At the close of the state's case, the trial judge directed a verdict of acquittal on one count of kidnapping for both defendants. App. 459, ll. 15-18.

The jury found Capers not guilty as to all charges; however, the jurors found Petitioner guilty on all counts. Judge McMahon sentenced Petitioner to concurrent terms of twenty-one years for armed robbery, twenty-one years for kidnapping, and five years for the weapons offense. On direct appeal, Petitioner was represented by appellate defender Katherine Hudgins, who filed a brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967), on June 14, 2011. App. 625. On May 16, 2012, the Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal. App. 638.

On February 20, 2013, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief ("PCR"). App. 640. On September 28, 2015, Petitioner, through counsel, amended his PCR application. App. 653. On January 15, 2016, the Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, convened an evidentiary hearing regarding the application. App. 655. Petitioner was represented by Kristy Goldberg, and the state was represented by assistant attorney general Patrick Schmeckpeper. App. 655. On May 25, 2016, Judge Hayes filed an order denying Petitioner relief from his convictions and sentences. App. 719.

An appeal from the order of dismissal was perfected through the filing of a petition for writ of certiorari in this Court on January 20, 2017. The state filed its return to the petition on July 5,

2017. Pursuant to Rule 243(1), SCACR, this Court transferred the case to the Court of Appeals by order dated October 30, 2017. On September 24, 2018, the Court of Appeals granted certiorari to review the first question presented in the petition. After briefing, the Court of Appeals affirmed the denial of relief in an unpublished opinion. Evans v. State, 2021-UP-009 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Mar. 31, 2021); Supp. App. 1-6. Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing on April 15, 2021. Supp. App. 7-18. The Court of Appeals denied the petition for rehearing on June 25, 2021. Supp. App. 19.

Thereafter, Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari in this Court asking for review of the decision by the Court of Appeals. On November 10, 2021, this Court granted the petition for writ of certiorari and ordered briefing on two issues. The brief of petitioner now follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

As will be discussed in greater detail later, appellate courts defer to a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is any evidence of probative value in the record to support them. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016). However, if there is no evidence to support the PCR court's ruling, the appellate court will reverse. Pierce v. State, 338 S.C. 139, 145, 526 S.E.2d 222, 225 (2000) (citation omitted). Questions of law are reviewed de novo, with no deference to trial courts. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839–40 (2018); Sellner, 416 S.C. at 610, 787 S.E.2d at 527 (citing Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014)).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

About half past midnight on July 26, 2007, four black males, all with their faces covered, robbed the Pitt Stop near I-26 in Lexington County. App. 181, l. 6 – App. 182, l. 8; App. 204, l. 18-24; App. 210, ll. 17-23; App. 211, ll. 8-9. The robbery lasted less than two minutes. App. 207, ll. 12-18; App. 215, ll. 19-24; App. 454, ll. 15-24. Neither of the clerks who were working at the gas station during the robbery recognized the men. App. 207, ll. 23-25; App. 214, ll. 6-8.

Later on July 26, 2007, the manager of the Pitt Stop provided a copy of the surveillance video recording from the time of the robbery to the police. App. 228, l. 11 – App. 230, l. 12. Edward Prestigacomo with the Lexington County Sheriff's Office went to the Pitt Stop to speak with employees who were present during the robbery. App. 402, ll. 12-19. Michael Rhaney, an employee of Pitt Stop who was not present during the robbery, pulled Prestigacomo to the side and asked to speak to him privately. App. 402, l. 22 – App. 403, l. 4. Rhaney told Prestigacomo that he believed his fiancé's cousins robbed the store. App. 403, ll. 2-4. As a result, Prestigacomo showed Rhaney a still shot from the surveillance video. App. 403, ll. 3-11; State's Trial Exhibits 30-32.¹ From this, Rhaney provided Prestigacomo with some names, including Petitioner's name and Lywone Capers' name. App. 403, ll. 8-11. Prestigacomo also showed Rhaney a still photograph from the video, which showed a truck. App. 404, ll. 2-4. Rhaney claimed the truck in the photo was one driven by Petitioner on the day before the robbery. App. 404, ll. 4-9.

Rhaney admitted that he did not know Lywone Capers or Petitioner very well and had not seen them since 2005, save his allegation that he saw them at 2:45 p.m. on July 25 in a blue and tan Ford Explorer. App. 266, l. 19 – App. 268, l. 10; App. 283, l. 11 – App. 284, l. 18. Notably,

¹ The Order of Dismissal indicates the PCR judge's review included "the transcripts and documents from the prior proceedings." App. 721.

Rhaney did not give the detective the story about seeing Petitioner in the Explorer until after the officer showed him the photograph of the vehicle involved in the incident. App. 255, l. 14 – App. 266, l. 11; App. 401, l. 12 – 404, l. 14.

Rhaney accompanied Prestigacomo to question Glynnessa Evans, Rhaney's fiancée and Petitioner's stepsister. App. 404, l. 17 – App. 12. Glynnessa was embroiled in a years long battle to win back custody of her daughter from Petitioner's aunt and adoptive mother, Emma Evans. App. 372, l. 21 – App. 373, l. 9; App. 487, ll. 11-18; App. 517, ll. 3-7. Emma Evans took in Glynnessa's daughter while Glynnessa was incarcerated for voluntary manslaughter from 1999 to 2002. App. 372, ll. 18-20; App. 376, ll. 9-24. Glynnessa lived in the same household as Petitioner from his birth in 1989 until her father's death in 1992. App. 375, ll. 1-20. She reunited with that side of the family before her daughter was born in 1998, at which time Petitioner would have been approximately nine years old. App. 375, l. 21 – App. 376, l. 8. Thereafter, Glynnessa and Petitioner both resided with Emma Evans for a brief time in 2005. App. 383, ll. 4-6; App. 391, ll. 7-16. Glynnessa had not seen Petitioner again until the day he allegedly came to her trailer unannounced on July 25, 2007, and left after spending a short time in the area visiting other friends. App. 307, l. 25 – App. 309, l. 22.

When Prestigacomo told Glynnessa why he was there, he "learned that she was aware of the robbery that had taken place." App. 405, ll. 6-16. Prestigacomo showed Glynnessa one still photograph from the surveillance footage that had all four individuals in the same frame. App. 406, ll. 10-15. She identified them as Petitioner, Lywone Capers, John Sosa, and "Ton" based on their clothing and build. App. 406, ll. 10-19; App. 407, ll. 17-21. As he had done with Rhaney, Prestigacomo showed Glynnessa the still shot of the truck from the surveillance video before asking for a description of the kind of car the boys were in when they allegedly arrived at her home

the prior day. App. 406, ll. 20-25. Rhaney and Glynnessa alleged that the Explorer belonged to Emma Evans, though the detective later determined it was actually owned by Frederick Neal. App. 273, ll. 7-11; App. 406, ll. 21-25; App. 408, ll. 1-17. When shown copies of other still photographs from the surveillance footage, Glynnessa said she recognized a cut or scar on the person's shoulder as belonging to Petitioner. App. 322, l. 13 – 323, l. 18.

Cherise Evans, Petitioner's sister, testified as an alibi witness at Petitioner's trial. App. 532, l. 17 – App. 535, l. 1; App. 537, ll. 10-16. Trial counsel asked Cherise whether she recalled who picked her up from work over July 25 and 26 of 2007, to which she responded: "my brother Boyd." He also asked Cherise whether Evans had left the Charlotte, North Carolina area over those dates, to which she responded: "no." App. 534, l. 4 – App. 535, l. 1. Trial counsel *neglected* to question Cherise regarding what time Petitioner dropped her off or picked her up.

At the PCR hearing, trial counsel testified that Petitioner always maintained his innocence and said he was in Charlotte the entire day the robbery occurred. App. 692, l. 11 – App. 693, l. 3; App. 703, ll. 13-19. Though trial counsel initially said that Petitioner did not provide any witness to corroborate his alibi, he admitted that Petitioner's sister, Cherise Evans, provided an alibi and testified at trial. Compare App. 693, ll. 8-10 and App. 705, ll. 15-16, with App. 696, ll. 17-20, App. 699, l. 9 and App. 705, l. 19 – App. 708, l. 2. Trial counsel admitted that his notes reflected that Cherise worked "at Church's [Chicken], the 21st through the 28th, until close" and Petitioner picked her up at 1:00 a.m. App. 702, l. 14 – App. 703, l. 4; App. 708, l. 25 – App. 709, l. 6. Trial counsel further admitted that the sole purpose of calling Cherise to testify was as an alibi witness. App. 705, l. 19 – 707, l. 15. Yet, trial counsel did not question Cherise in front of the jury regarding what **time** Petitioner picked her up. App. 668, ll. 5-13; App. 707, l. 16 – App. 708, l. 2.

Judge Hayes found that trial counsel was deficient in failing to elicit testimony from Cherise that Petitioner was picking her up from work in Charlotte, North Carolina *at roughly the same time* that the armed robbery occurred in Lexington County, South Carolina. App. 723. Trial counsel had information in his file regarding the time that Cherise got off work, which would have strengthened Petitioner's alibi defense. App. 723. However, Judge Hayes found that Petitioner did not prove that, but for counsel's deficient performance, there was a reasonable probability that the outcome of the proceeding would have been different. App. 724. Judge Hayes noted that Petitioner's co-defendant was acquitted despite very similar identification testimony from Glynnessa and Rhaney. App. 725. However, he found that Glynnessa had a closer relationship with Petitioner than the co-defendant and that Petitioner had "an identifiable scar, which was visible in the video of the armed robbery." App. 725. He also noted that the identification testimony was "attacked by aggressive cross-examination at trial." App. 725. Thus, he ruled:

As a result, this court is not convinced that even with the extra alibi information, the defense would have overcome the identification testimony presented by Ms. [Glynnessa] Evans and Mr. [Rhaney]. [Petitioner]'s claim was not that he came to Lexington and returned to Charlotte, but, rather, that he was in Charlotte the entire day. Accordingly, [Petitioner] has failed to show a reasonable possibility that but for counsel's error the outcome of his proceeding would have been different. This allegation is therefore denied and dismissed.

App. 725.

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals violated the standard of review by failing to defer to the PCR court's findings of fact and substituting its own view of the facts in denying Petitioner relief from his convictions and sentences.

As previously mentioned, the appellate court must defer to a PCR court's findings of fact and must uphold them if there is any evidence of probative value in the record to support them. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016). Only when there is no evidence to support the PCR court's factual findings, the appellate court will reverse. Pierce v. State, 338 S.C. 139, 145, 526 S.E.2d 222, 225 (2000) (citation omitted). On the other hand, questions of law are reviewed de novo, with no deference to trial courts. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839–40 (2018); Sellner, 416 S.C. at 610, 787 S.E.2d at 527 (citing Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014)).

On appeal, Petitioner challenged the PCR judge's finding that he did not show he was prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to ask his alibi witness the critical question of the specific time the witness was with Petitioner on the night of the robbery. Without knowing the exact time that the witness was with Petitioner, the jury was unable to consider the evidence as a true alibi defense.

The PCR judge found trial counsel called Cherise Evans, Petitioner's sister, as an alibi witness during Petitioner's trial. App. 723. Although Cherise "testified that on the day of the robbery, [Petitioner] picked her up and dropped her off from work," Cherise "did *not* testify as to what *time* she was dropped off and picked up by [Petitioner]." App. 723 (emphasis added). The PCR judge found that trial counsel acknowledged "he did not ask Ms. Evans *when* she got off work the night in question." App. 723 (emphasis added). After considering Petitioner's "evidence that [Cherise] would have said [Petitioner] was picking her up from work at roughly the same time

the armed robbery occurred,” the PCR judge was “convinced that trial counsel had information (the time the alibi witness got off of work) in his file that would have strengthened the alibi defense.” App. 723. This was a factual finding to which the Court of Appeals was required to defer. Despite the clear standard of review requiring the Court of Appeals not substitute its own view of the facts where evidence supported the PCR court’s factual findings, the Court of Appeals refused to defer to the PCR court and violated its duty as an appellate court.

Rejecting the PCR court’s clear factual finding, which was supported by the evidence presented, the Court of Appeals found “[t]rial counsel’s notes were unclear as to whether Petitioner picked [Cherise] up from work at 1:00 PM or 1:00 AM.” Evans v. State, Op. No. 2021-UP-099 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Mar. 31, 2021); Supp. App. 1-6. Also, the Court of Appeals found trial counsel’s note “*came from an interview trial counsel had with Petitioner, not [Cherise].*” Id. (emphasis in original). The Court of Appeals repeated this erroneous factual finding by stating “trial counsel merely had notes from a conversation with Petitioner as to the timeline [Cherise] would have provided had she been specifically asked.” Id. Based upon this erroneous factual finding, which failed to accord due deference to the PCR court’s factual determinations, the Court held “evidence in the record exists to support the PCR court’s finding that the end result at trial would have been the same even if trial counsel had elicited testimony from [Cherise] providing the exact time Petitioner allegedly picked her up from work in Charlotte on the night of the robbery.” Id. Ultimately, the Court of Appeals held “Petitioner failed to prove he was prejudiced by trial counsel’s deficient examination of his alibi witness.” Id.

The evidence presented supported the PCR court’s factual findings, and the Court of Appeals erred by failing to defer to those factual findings. The PCR court recognized that Cherise Evans was called by the defense as an alibi witness at Petitioner’s trial. App. 532, l. 17 – App.

535, l. 1; App. 537, ll. 10-16. Cherise told the jurors that Petitioner picked her up from work over July 25 and 26 of 2007. App. 534, l. 4 – App. 535, l. 1. However, Cherise did not tell the jurors what time this occurred because trial counsel neglected to ask her this critical question.

During the PCR hearing, trial counsel testified that he and his investigator “talked obviously with all of the family.” App. 696, ll. 16-17. Cherise “was the *only* one who could provide him an alibi to the extent that he took her to work and picked her up from work at the Church’s Chicken.” App. 696, ll. 17-20 (emphasis added). Trial counsel testified unequivocally that Cherise “indicated that he had taken her to work and picked her up” on the date of the robbery. App. 702, ll. 20-22. His note “from October 28, 2008, said [Petitioner] picked her up at one.” App. 702, ll. 21-22. He assumed “that to be 1:00 in the afternoon.” App. 702, ll. 22-23.² He admitted, however, that Cherise was working “until close, so maybe that’s one in the morning.” App. 702, ll. 24-25. Trial counsel reiterated that even though he was unsure if Cherise referred to morning or afternoon, *he interviewed her*, and she testified as an alibi witness. App. 703, ll. 1-4.

According to trial counsel, the “whole reason” to call Cherise as a witness was for the alibi defense. App. 706, ll. 19-21. Yet, trial counsel inexplicably never asked Cherise while she was testifying what time she got off from work – the critical question to establish an alibi. App. 707, ll. 16-17.

Based on this uncontroverted evidence, the PCR court found – as fact – Petitioner presented “evidence that Ms. Evans would have said [Petitioner] was picking her up from work at roughly the same time the armed robbery occurred.” Thus, the PCR judge was “convinced that trial counsel

² Trial counsel’s claim that he assumed that one o’clock referred to the afternoon was nonsensical in light of his admission that Cherise Evans could provide an alibi for Petitioner and that the sole reason for calling her as a witness was so that she could provide an alibi. Had one o’clock referred to the afternoon, it would not have provided an alibi for Petitioner. Thus, one o’clock had to refer to the morning.

had information (the time the alibi witness got off of work) in his file that would have strengthened the alibi defense.” App. 723. Yet, the Court of Appeals adopted an argument made by the state for the first time on appeal that contradicted this factual finding. The state contended in its brief that the PCR court’s denial of relief should be upheld because trial counsel’s note was from a conversation with Petitioner, not Cherise, precluding a finding of prejudice. This argument was disingenuous, at best.

Here, PCR counsel requested that the record be held upon so that she could provide the testimony of Cherise at a later time. Despite having cooperated with PCR counsel prior to the hearing, Cherise was working at the time of the hearing and PCR counsel had not subpoenaed her or provided her with a work excuse. App. 659, l. 4 – App. 660, l. 13. Respondent objected to holding the record open and said: “I don’t think it’s necessary to have her here.” App. 660, ll. 14-25. In fact, Respondent explained that PCR counsel “ha[d] an exhibit ... that pretty much says what Ms. Evans is gonna testify to.” App. 660, ll. 20-22. While the notes were not introduced as an exhibit, Respondent was well aware of the notes and conceded that the information contained within the notes – that Petitioner picked Cherise up from work at 1 a.m. – would have been the testimony offered by Cherise. Respondent’s disingenuous disavowal of its concession during the PCR hearing must be rejected.

The PCR judge instructed PCR counsel to renew the motion at the end of the hearing, at which point he would be in a better position to make a ruling. App. 661, ll. 1-11. When counsel renewed the motion, the PCR judge responded:

Well, I think the issue that deals with what we’re dealing with here on a PCR, I think you’ve made a sufficient record as to what counsel knew. He’s admitted that he knew it. The records from the proceeding seems clear that that question was not asked. So not knowing what *else* she would testify to, I really don’t see a need in having -- in keeping the record open. So if by chance counsel for the [Petitioner]

wishes to somehow secure that testimony, you could offer it -- well, what's the phrase? You could make it part of the record, but I won't be looking at it.

App. 716, l. 3 – App. 717, l. 4 (emphasis added).

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