RECEIVED

Jan 24 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Lexington County
The Honorable J. Mark Hayes, Circuit Court Judge

BOYD RASHAEEN EVANS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

Appellate Case No. 2021-000786

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

W. JOSEPH MAYE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100851

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

S. RICK HUBBARD, III
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit
205 East Main Street
Lexington, South Carolina 29072
(803) 785-8285

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **The Court of Appeals did not violate its standard of review for a PCR appeal. There is no evidence within the record from Cherise Evans supporting the alleged 1AM pick-up note, and as a matter of law, Petitioner cannot satisfy his burden of proof for prejudice under *Bannister and Glover*.**

As to matters of both law and fact, the Court of Appeals applied the correct standard of review in this matter and correctly affirmed the PCR Court's denial of relief. The record clearly sets forth that the only purported evidence presented to the PCR court concerning the time in which Cherise Evans was picked up by Petitioner was the handwritten note *created from an interview with Petitioner*, and that note is not specific as to the date and time in question for July 25th/26th. As such, there is no evidence demonstrating what Cherise Evans testimony on the matter might have been because Petitioner failed to secure her testimony at the evidentiary hearing. In the complete absence of such evidence, the Court of Appeals was correct to affirm the denial of relief. *Bannister and Glover* control, and Petitioner, as a matter of law, cannot demonstrate prejudice. The ruling of the Court of Appeals should therefore be affirmed.

“An ineffective assistance claim has two components: A petitioner must show that counsel's performance was deficient, and that the deficiency prejudiced the defense.” *Wiggins v. Smith*, 539 U.S. 510, 521, 123 S.Ct. 2527 (2003) (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 673, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984)). As to the second prong, the South Carolina Supreme Court “has repeatedly held a PCR applicant must produce the testimony of a favorable witness or otherwise offer the testimony in accordance with the rules of evidence at the PCR hearing in order to establish prejudice with the witness' failure to testify at trial.” *Bannister v. State*, 333 S.C. 298, 303, 509 S.E.2d 807, 809 (1998) (citing *Pauling v. State*, 331 S.C. 606, 503 S.E.2d 468 (1998)). The Court

in *Bannister* made a definitive determination that the absence of the witness's testimony either in person or otherwise admitted pursuant to the rules of evidence is fatal to an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. *Bannister*, 333 S.C. at 303, 509 S.E.2d at 809-10. The absence of such testimony, such that only speculation can be made as to precisely what a witness would have said, precludes the establishment of prejudice, as a matter of law. *Bannister*, 333 S.C. at 303, 509 S.E.2d at 809 (citing *Glover v. State*, 318 S.C. 496, 458 S.E.2d 538 (1995)). This Court has reiterated this rule specific to the issue of alibi evidence. *Martin v. State*, 427 S.C. 450, 455, 832 S.E.2d 277, 279-80 (2019). Quite simply, Petitioner has failed to present the testimony of Cherise Evans, in person or otherwise admitted pursuant to the rules of evidence, as to what time she was supposedly picked up by Petitioner. There is *no evidence* establishing this critical issue. The law is well established for this type of issue, and under that law, a close examination of the record in this case leaves no other conclusion than the one reached by the Court of Appeals.

The Contents of the Record

First, it is Petitioner's burden to present the alleged alibi evidence believed to have been deficiently excluded by counsel. Petitioner failed to do so, and any inadequacy in the record must be laid at the feet of Petitioner as a result. Cherise Evans, Petitioner's own sister, did not attend the evidentiary hearing, did not give advance warning that she could not attend, and was not under subpoena to attend. (PCR App., p. 659, lines 4-22). As the critical issue in this case is determining what alibi testimony or evidence Cherise Evans would have provided at trial had counsel questioned her further, her failure to appear and testify is fatal to Petitioner's claim because such testimony is not memorialized in any other admissible evidence.

Petitioner wants this court to rely upon Mr. Miller's handwritten note as if it were evidence that sets forth what *Cherise Evans* would have testified to. However, Mr. Miller explicitly states "I have a note right here just going back through my notes that were personal that I made *when I interviewed him that* -- I have a note Cherise, Church's Chicken, 21st through 28th till close, Boyd picked up at one." (PCR App., p. 709, lines 3-6) (emphasis added). This testimony demonstrates that the note was created from an interview with Petitioner, not from an interview with Cherise Evans. It cannot be reasonably or even liberally construed as a note taken from an interview with Cherise, *who is a woman*. In addition, Mr. Miller's repeatedly testified that he had no witness who could corroborate Petitioner's alibi. (PCR App., p. 693, lines 1-10; p. 705, lines 15-16; p. 710, lines 5-6). Such a statement could not be squarely given by Mr. Miller if his interview with Cherise Evans revealed a complete alibi in the form of Petitioner picking Cherise up at 1am on the night of the robbery. Petitioner claims that this argument is "disingenuous", but it is nothing more than reading the clear text of the record. And, the clear text of the record does not support Petitioner's argument that he presented evidence *from Cherise Evans* on the topic in dispute. It is no fault of the State that Petitioner failed to procure the attendance of the one absolutely essential witness to his case. ³

³ Petitioner also attempts to suggest the State conceded to the interpretation of the evidence that Petitioner now wishes this Court to adopt. However, Petitioner's intermittent quotations from Mr. Schmeckpeper's arguments is not a fair representation of what was said. The totality of the Mr. Schmeckpeper's argument against keeping the record open reads as follows:

Your Honor, I would object to holding the record open at this point. First off, I mean all the witnesses are here today. It doesn't mean that -- *I haven't heard what Ms. Evans is gonna say*, I don't know if we're gonna need any additional witnesses to rebut what she's gonna say. In addition, Ms. Evans testified at trial. *From what I understand, Ms. Goldberg has an exhibit that she's gonna introduce*

The defects of Petitioner's arguments are not limited strictly to Mr. Miller's testimony demonstrating that his note did not originate from an interview with Cherise Evans. The content of the note itself is problematic in numerous ways and PCR counsel's questioning of Mr. Miller failed to prove the pivotal issue that Mr. Miller knew Cherise had a complete alibi to provide.

Regarding the deficiencies of the note itself, the content of the note is contradictive to the sworn testimony offered by Cherise Evans at trial. The note, vague as it is, suggests that Cherise worked at Church's Chicken every day between July 21st and July 28th. However, Cherise testified at trial that she specifically did not work on July 23rd and July 24th so that she could celebrate a family birthday. She even relied upon this testimony as the basis for why she could supposedly remember the date in question. (PCR App., p. 539, lines 1-6). Petitioner is urging this court to presume this note constitutes evidence from Cherise, but even this simple note is contradictory to her trial testimony in a substantial way.

Secondly, the note suggests that Cherise worked "through the 28th till close", but that does not articulate whether she worked *every day* until close or if she worked the night of July 25th until close. Thus, there is nothing to demonstrate definitely that she was getting off work in the early morning hours of July 26th when the robbery took place. Lastly, there is nothing to demonstrate

that pretty much says what Ms. Evans is gonna testify to. I don't think it's necessary to have her here. I understand this is Mr. Evans' only shot though, but we would object to any – holding the record open or any continuance.

(PCR App., p. 660, 14-25)(emphasis added). Mr. Schmeckpeper's argument was simply articulating what he had come to learn of Ms. Goldberg's intentions for the hearing. He did not concede the disputed issue of the case. Moreover, this argument comes *before* Mr. Miller has testified about the contents and origin of his note.

definitively that “Boyd picked up at one” refers to 1am, as opposed to 1pm. All of these issues are speculations that Petitioner wants this Court to adopt without actual evidence from Cherise on the topic.

Despite PCR counsel’s questioning, the only facts to be taken from the record are that 1) PCR counsel testified that he did not find an alibi witness for Petitioner, 2) PCR counsel characterized Cherise Evans as only providing Petitioner an alibi “to the extent” he dropped her off and picked her up from work (not a perfect alibi), and 3) nothing in the record demonstrates that Cherise Evans told Mr. Miller anything more specific that would support Petitioner’s claim. At times, Mr. Miller appeared hesitant to accede to the line of questioning from PCR counsel and even defensive of his particular phrasing of questions at trial, suggesting that his questioning of Cherise at trial was not deficient, but strategically purposeful. (PCR App., p. 707, lines 11-15; p. 707, line 21 through p. 708, line 2). Mr. Miller’s PCR testimony does not suggest that he merely forgot to ask Cherise the pivotal question that would create a perfect alibi for his client, it suggests that he specifically avoided asking that question in favor of a vaguery.

Review of the PCR Court’s Holding

A PCR court’s *findings of fact* are entitled to deference, but only when there is evidence within the record to support them. The PCR court took the note in question at face value, and either failed to hear or failed to consider the testimony of how the note was created. In doing so, it concluded that “Applicant offered evidence that Ms. Evans would have said Applicant was picking her up from work at roughly the same time the armed robbery occurred.” The PCR court thereby concluded that counsel was deficient for not questioning Cherise Evans further on when she was picked up from work. Relevant to Petitioner’s first argument concerning deference to findings of

fact, the Court of Appeals noted that the issue before it was not whether counsel was deficient, but whether Petitioner satisfied his burden to demonstrate prejudice and present actual evidence of the witness in question so as render the content of Cherise Evans' further desired testimony more than mere speculation. In addressing this question the Court of Appeals reached one factual finding that did not give deference to the PCR court. Therein, the court stated:

Trial counsel's notes from an interview with Petitioner indicate Petitioner picked up [Cherise Evans] from work in Charlotte around 1:00. He inferred that meant 1:00 PM but stated, "She was working at Church's, the 21st through the 28th, until close, so maybe that's one in the morning."

...

The only evidence presented at the PCR hearing to provide the substance of [Cherise Evans'] testimony – other than the trial transcript – was Petitioner's own testimony and trial counsel's note, which came from an interview trial counsel had with Petitioner, not [Cherise Evans].

(Supp. App. p. 4-5)

This holding can be interpreted as the Court of Appeals rightly denying deference to the PCR court for an unfounded factual finding. As the record demonstrates that the note was not the result of an interview with Cherise, it leaves the entire record lacking evidence from Cherise on the issue. However, it is also indicative of the Court of Appeals exercising *de novo* application of *Bannister v. State* – a legal precedent that the PCR court failed to consider. This is especially so given that the PCR court did not make any explicit finding of fact as to the origin of Mr. Miller's file note. The PCR court's holding was limited to: "Applicant offered evidence that Ms. Evans would have said Applicant was picking her up from work at roughly the same time the armed robbery occurred. This court is convinced that trial counsel had information (the time the alibi witness got off of work) in his file that would have strengthened the alibi defense." As such, the

Court of Appeals ruling can be construed to provide a new and specific finding of fact not articulated by the PCR court and demonstrates that the PCR court's holding was based upon speculative evidence in violation of *Bannister* and *Glover*. In either case, the Court of Appeals exercised its standard of review precisely as required.

Petitioner wants this Court to assume that Cherise Evans' supposed testimony, which is absent from the record, would have been the same as the speculation set forth in the notes taken from Petitioner's interview. Such a conclusion is contrary to the Supreme Court's holding in *Bannister*. *Id.* at 303, 509 S.E.2d at 809. In addition to presuming Cherise Evans would have testified consistently with the note taken from Petitioner's interview, Petitioner also desires the Court to assume that this note indicates a 1AM pickup, as opposed to 1PM. And, in addition to that presumption, Petitioner wants this 1AM pickup to be applied to the morning of July 26th, which the note does not specify. Cherise Evans has provide no evidence to such a conclusion. All of these presumptions could have been answered had Petitioner simply secured the presence of the necessary witness, but instead Petitioner is asking this court to reverse the jury's conviction on multiple strained conjectures of a note in defense counsel's file that did not come from the witness in question. In that regard, Petitioner's reliance upon *Walker*, *Weldon*, and *Martin* is misplaced. In each of these cases the witness testimony would have established a complete alibi if not for the failures of counsel regarding investigation or the calling of witnesses at trial, and such evidence was properly presented as required at the PCR evidentiary hearing as to the content of alibi testimony. These holdings did not involve the insufficiency of speculative evidence under *Bannister*. *Walker v. State*, 407 S.C. 400, 756 S.E.2d 144 (2014); *Weldon v. State*, No. 2017-002000, 2021 WL 4566750 (S.C. Ct. App. Oct. 6, 2021); *Martin v. State*, 427 S.C. 450, 832 S.E.2d

277 (2019)(noting that alibi witness gave a statement to trial counsel containing the specific time she dropped the defendant off, that such information was in defense's file, and that counsel conceded having that information from her at his disposal for trial). The Court of Appeals correctly distinguished *Martin* on this basis. *Evans v. State*, No. 2016-001287, 2021 WL 1227794, at *3 (S.C. Ct. App. Mar. 31, 2021), cert. granted (Nov. 10, 2021).

The limitations set forth by *Bannister* and *Glover* exist for a reason: Court's will not speculate as to the content of an absent witness in determining the prejudice for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. The Court of Appeals did not violate its standard of review in finding, as a matter of law, Petitioner has failed to demonstrate prejudice resulting from counsel's failure to question Cherise Evans further because Petitioner failed to provide evidence from Cherise Evans demonstrating what further questioning would have revealed.

Petitioner claims that counsel was ineffective for failing to procure the proper testimony from Cherise Evans; he cannot be rewarded with a new trial for *also* failing to procure the proper testimony from Cherise Evans. The holding of the Court of Appeals should be affirmed.

II. The Court of Appeals did not err in finding evidence within the record to support the PCR Court's holding that there was a lack of prejudice from counsel's failure to further question Cherise Evans.

Petitioner's two questions presented are intertwined, and necessarily, Petitioner's second question presented is redundantly without merit, as the record shows Petitioner's failed to demonstrate prejudice as a matter of law. (*Supra*). However, the surrounding evidence presented at trial also demonstrates that the PCR court, and the Court of Appeals in affirmance, did not err in finding Petitioner failed to satisfy his burden to prove prejudice.

Petitioner contends that had the jury heard testimony from Cherise Evans that Petitioner

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